MAR 2 2 2010 OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

FILED

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

Kurt D. Middleton, Appellant,

vs.

Cause No. 2009CP0977 COA

The State of Mississippi, Appellee

Brief on Behalf of the Appellant

Oral argument not requested

Kurt D. Middleton Pro-se, Appellant MSP-25-A-41 P.O. BOX 1057 Parchman, MS 38738-1057

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

Kurt D. Middleton, Appellant,

VS.

Cause No. 2009-CP-0977-COA

The State of Mississippi, Appellee

Rebuttal Brief on Behalf of Appellant

Statement of the case

Appellant, Middleton appeals his conviction as a Habitual offender by the De Soto County Circuit Court, Mississippi.

Statement of Facts

For purposes of this brief, Appellant will agree with the states statement of facts in part. In the states statement of facts they are mistaken about one of the felony convictions the Circuit Court used to convict me as a habitual criminal. In the felony conviction, Case no. 86CF 1072 Wisconsin, Dated 11-30-84, Middleton was sentenced to probation and had not been revoked as in <u>HEWLETT</u>. In HEWLETT he was sentenced to 3 years in case no. H-8392 see: certified copy of judgement of conviction enclosed as exhibit 1.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Did the Trial Court Error in Sentencing Middleton as a Habitual Criminal?

Summary of Argument

1. The Trial Court did error in using a felony conviction which does NOT conform to Miss Code 99-19-81 or the USCS Const. Art. V1, C1.2 #24.

ARGUMENT

All arguments in Appellants original motion hold firm. The only new argument has to do with Middleton's prior conviction, where he was placed on probation, see: (R. Vol 1 pp. 17) Judgement of Conv. Case no. 86CF1072. This and the other conviction (R. Vol 1 pp. 16) Judgement of Conv. Case no. 85CF1060, 86CF747. Were Wisconsin convictions and because of this they are to be construed as they are by Wisconsin laws. Because of this, Middleton wishes to argue that the conviction, case no. 86CF1072 is NOT in fact a sentence as Mississippi law sees it. If this conviction is not a sentence pursuant to the laws of Wisconsin then it will not be able to be used in finding Middleton a Habitual Criminal.

In the States argument it states, "We adopt here the Circuit Court's reasoning in its Order denying relief on the prisoner's motion. The prisoner may not have served time on one of his convictions, but he was sentenced to serve a term of five years. This made the conviction a useable one. *HEWLETT v. STATE, 607 So.2d 1097, 1105 (MISS. 1992)*. It is the fact of having been sentence to a term of <u>a year or more imprisonment</u> that makes a prior conviction eligible for sentencing under Section 99-19-81, not whether such a period of time was actually served." As in *Hewlett*, he was sentenced to serve 3 years in prison because he had in fact had his probation revoked. See: exhibit 1. *Hewlett's* judgement of conviction case no. 8392.

I wish to argue that Middleton's conviction, (R. Vol 1. pp 17) was not a sentence at all and because it is NOT a sentence does not fall in the scope of the **Miss. Code 99-19-81**. As in *Testa vs. Katt* and the USCS Cons. Art VI C1.2 #24. State court is obligated to enforce valid penal law of United States. *Testa vs. Katt (1947) 330 US 386, 91 L Ed 967, 67 S Ct 810, 172 ALR 225.*

See also: State of Wisconsin vs. Gereaux 114 Wis 2d 110, 338 N.W. 2d 118, 1983 Wisc. App., Prue vs. State 63 Wis. 2d 109, 216 N.W. 2d 43; (1974). The terms "probation" and "sentence," according to Prue, are different concepts. The Wisconsin Supreme Court noted that a sentence is generally defined as the "judgement of a court by which the court imposes the punishment or penalty provided by the statue for the offense...." Id. At 115-16, 216 N.W. 2d at 46. Probation is not a sentence; it is an alternative to a sentence. Id. At 114,216 N.W. 2d at 45. Furthermore, "sentence" is a legal term and must be given its legal meaning in sec. 973.09(1)(a), Stats., as required by the Wisconsin Supreme Court in Prue. Id at 116, 216 N.W. 2d at 46. We hold that the term "sentence" is a legal term that does not include the term "probation." The Supreme Court, Hallows, C. J., held that defendant was not serving a sentence and was not entitled to good time. Probation is alternative to sentence and fact that condition of confinement in county jail is similar to confinement of sentence under Huber Law does not make probation a sentence.

HALLOWS, Chief Justice,

[1] The statement in the judgement "with no good time given" was superfluous but did, perhaps, serve as a warning to the authorities that *Prue* was not entitled to good time under sec.
53.43, Stats., because he was on probation and not serving a sentence.

[5-8] Those receiving Huber Law privileges are serving a sentence. Probation is an alternative to a sentence; and the fact that a condition of confinement in the county jail is similar to the confinement of a sentence under the Huber Law does not make a probation a sentence. There are public policy considerations why a committing court should have a wide choice in dealing with a convicted person in regard to his punishment and rehabilitation. The trial court should have leeway if probation is to be an effective tool of rehabilitation. A trial court could grant good time as a condition of a probation if it desired; and under sec. 973.09(3), Stats., may change the terms of probation. We do not accept the argument that the common and usual meaning of "sentence" or "sentencing" in sec. 53.43 means confinement on probation.

The view that probation is not a sentence and that the imposition of incarceration as a condition of probation is likewise not a sentence has been generally accepted.

See McCulley vs. State (Mo. 1972), 486 S.W. 2d 419, 423; 38A Words and Phrases (perm. ed.) pp. 355, 356; see also Ex parte Hays (1953), 120 Cal. App.2d 308,260 P.2d 1030; In re Martin (1947), 82 Cal. App.2d 16, 185 P.2d 645; Petersen vs. Dunbar (9th Cir. 1966), 355 F.2d 800; Scarpelli vs. Gagnon (E.D. Wis. 1970), 317 F. Supp. 72,77; People vs. Terven (1970), 130 ILL.App.708, 264 N.E. 2d. 538; In Re Williams' Petition (1965), 145 Mont. 45, 399 P.2d 732; State vs. Duitsman (1970), 186 Neb. 39,180 N.W.2d 685; State vs. Wright (1972), 202 N.W.2d 72 (Iowa); McCulley vs. State, *supra*,(an order placing a defendant on probation, even though it includes a condition of probation that defendant serve a period of detention in the county jail, is not a judgement and sentence); Com. Ex rel. Lemon vs. Myers, Com. Pl (1957), 56 Lanc.L.Rev. 65 and State vs. Theisen (1956) , 165 Ohio St. 313, 135 N.E.2d 392, Delaney vs. State (Fla.1966), 190 So.2d 578, People vs. Boucher (Ill.App.1973), 295 N.E.2d 334 (an order placing a defendant on probation is not a sentence, but is in effect a suspension of the imposition of sentence).

So as this court can see the conviction used to establish Middleton a habitual criminal is not valid for use under Miss Code 99-19-81. Because it is not a sentence in the meaning of the use of Miss. Code Ann. 99-19-81 and the other arguments in Appellants prior briefs, Middleton respectfully requests this court find that the State Court should not have found Middleton a habitual offender..

Conclusion

The Appellant submits that the state has failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that he is a habitual criminal. Therefore the Habitual offender portion of his sentence should be vacated and he should be re-sentenced without the 99-19-81 statute.

For the above and forgoing reasons, Appellant requests this Honorable court grant him requested relief.

This 22^{hq} day of March, in the year of our lord 2010.