IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

KURT D. MIDDLETON

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2009-CP-0977

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal against an Order of the Circuit Court of DeSoto County, Mississippi in which relief was denied on the prisoner's motion in post - conviction relief.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The prisoner, on 28 July 2008, entered a plea of guilty to the felony of uttering a forged instrument. In the course of the plea colloquy with the prisoner, the prisoner admitted his guilt for the felony charged against him.

The indictment against the prisoner had been amended to charge him as an habitual offender. After the Appellant admitted the factual basis for his plea, the State moved to introduce "the certified priors" for purpose of the plea and sentencing. There was no objection to the State's motion. (R. Supp. Vol. 1, pp. 22 - 25). In addition to the introduction of the

"certified priors," the prisoner admitted the existence of the prior convictions which formed the basis for the habitual offender charge. (R. Supp. Vol. 1, pg. 26). The court then went on with the usual enquiries; in due course the prisoner stated that he was entering his plea of guilty because he was guilty. (R. Supp. Vol. 1, pg. 35). He further admitted that he was an habitual offender within the meaning of Miss. Code Ann. Section 99-19-81 and again admitted that he had in fact been convicted of the prior offenses upon which the habitual offender portion of the indictment was based. (R. Supp. Vol. 1, pg. 38). The prisoner's plea was accepted, as well as the plea agreement between the prisoner and the State, and the prisoner was convicted and sentenced accordingly. (R. Supp. Vol. 1, pg. 51).

On 5 March 2009, the prisoner filed a "Motion for Post - Conviction Collateral Relief" in the Circuit Court. As grounds for relief, he asserted that the sentence imposed was in violation of the laws of Mississippi and of due process. Specifically, the prisoner claimed that his two prior convictions, which occurred in the State of Wisconsin, occurred on the same date and that in one of those convictions execution of the term of imprisonment imposed was entirely suspended. The prisoner further alleged that he successfully completed the probationary term for the conviction for which execution of sentence was suspended. The prisoner claimed that since he had served no time on one conviction, his sentence as an habitual offender was improper. (R. Vol. 1 pp. 6 - 8).

On 5 May 2009, the prisoner filed a "Motion to "Amend" Motion for Post - Conviction Relief." In this motion, the prisoner claimed that his two prior convictions had not been "separately brought," for purposes of Section 99-19-81. (R. Vol. 1, pg. 31).

On 8 May 2009, the prisoner filed a "Petition for Hearing." In this filing, the prisoner attempted to demonstrate that the automobile involved in his felony in this State was not actually

worth more than five hundred dollars, if that, apparently in an effort to have his conviction set aside. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 38 - 47).

On 5 June 2009, the Circuit Court denied relief on the prisoner's motion(s). The court found that there was no requirement under Miss. Code Ann. Section 99-19-81 that the prisoner actually served time in prison, as opposed to having been sentence to serve time in prison. It further found that the two prior convictions occurred about a year apart. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 48 - 50). The prisoner apparently filed a petition for rehearing; this was denied by order filed on 24 June 2009. (R. Vol. 1, pg. 51). The prisoner filed his notice of appeal on 16 July 2009. (R. Vol. 1, pg. 52).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DENYING RELIEF ON THE PRISONER'S MOTION IN POST - CONVICTION RELIEF WITHOUT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING RELIEF ON THE PRISONER'S MOTION IN POST - CONVICTION RELIEF

ARGUMENT

1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING RELIEF ON THE PRISONER'S MOTION IN POST - CONVICTION RELIEF

The prisoner raises two issues in his two briefs filed in this Court. It is said that the Circuit Court erred in failing to conduct a bifurcated hearing the habitual offender portion of the indictment. It is also said that the Circuit Court erred "in not proving Beyond a Reasonable Doubt each element of the Habitual Offender Status."

As for the claim concerning the lack of a bifurcated hearing, the prisoner did not raise such an issue in his post - conviction relief pleadings in the Circuit Court. For that reason it may

not be considered here. *White v. State*, 22 So.3rd 378 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009). Nonetheless, even had the claim been presented to the Circuit Court, there would have been no merit in it. A bifurcated hearing is not required in the course of the taking of a guilty plea. *Hudson v. State*, 891 So.2d 260 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004). During the plea colloquy in the case at bar, the State introduced certified copies of the prisoner's prior convictions, and the prisoner admitted the existence of those convictions. This was entirely sufficient, and it was not necessary to hold form over substance and conduct a separate sentencing hearing. The decisions relied upon by the prisoner with respect to the necessity of a bifurcated hearing are not applicable to sentencing on the basis of a guilty plea.

The second claim is that habitual offender status was not proved. This claim is a renewal of the claim in the Circuit Court that, in view of the fact that the prisoner's sentence in one prior conviction was suspended, and that he never served time on that conviction, that conviction was not useable for sentencing under Miss. Code Ann. Section 99-19-81. The prisoner was sentenced to serve a term of five years imprisonment, but the sentencing court suspended execution of the entire sentence.

We adopt here the Circuit Court's reasoning in its Order denying relief on the prisoner's motion. The prisoner may not have served time on one of his convictions, but he was sentenced to serve a term of five years. This made the conviction a useable one. *Hewlett v. State*, 607 So.2d 1097, 1105 (Miss. 1992). It is the fact of having been sentence to a term of a year or more imprisonment that makes a prior conviction eligible for sentencing under Section 99-19-81, not whether such a period of time was actually served.

CONCLUSION

The Order denying relief on the prisoner's motion or motions in post - conviction relief should be affirmed.